Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Medicine in Drug Discovery

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/medid

**Review Article** 

# Roles of matrix metalloproteinases in the cornea: A special focus on macular corneal dystrophy

Saniye Gul Kaya<sup>a,b</sup>, Seniz Inanc-Surer<sup>c</sup>, Gulcin Cakan-Akdogan<sup>a,d</sup>, Gulgun Oktay<sup>c</sup>, Canan Asli Utine<sup>a,e</sup>, Sibel Kalyoncu<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>b</sup> Izmir International Biomedicine and Genome Institute, Dokuz Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>c</sup> Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Dokuz Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>d</sup> Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Dokuz Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey

e Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Dokuz Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey

# ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Matrix metalloproteinases Collagenases Cornea Macular corneal dystrophy

# ABSTRACT

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are endopeptidases that are responsible for the degradation of several components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and some non-ECM proteins. MMPs are subdivided into 6 groups according to their structure and substrate specificity: collagenases, gelatinases, membrane-type MMPs, stromelysins, and matrilizines. Collagenases are important proteolytic tools during ECM remodeling, tissue regeneration, and organ development. MMPs, especially collagenases, have important roles in ocular processes such as retinal neurogenesis and corneal wound healing. MMP studies on eye research are limited, but there is growing evidence that MMP physiology is key for the ocular system, especially for the cornea. The cornea is predominantly composed of collagen fibrils, which form uniform lamellar lattices. Collagenase-driven ECM remodeling is essential for the cornea. Macular corneal dystrophy (MCD) is a rare inherited disease and characterized by progressive, insoluble accumulation of irregular substances in the corneal ECM. MCD can cause visual acuity loss up to blindness, and there is currently no treatment available. It has been recently reported that certain collagenases are downregulated in MCD disease progression. Here, we review the roles of MMPs in eye diseases and propose possible treatment strategies for MCD.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Roles of MMPs in noncorneal eye diseases	2
3.	Roles of MMPs and collagenases in corneal diseases	3
4.	Structure and biochemistry of collagenases	4
5.	Macular corneal dystrophy: mechanism of deposit formation and roles of collagenases	4
6.	Promising and challenging treatment strategies for macular corneal dystrophy	6
	Funding	7
	Ethical approval	7
	Declaration of Competing Interest	7
	Acknowledgements	7
	References	7

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medidd.2021.100095

Received 23 February 2021; Revised 31 March 2021; Accepted 17 April 2021

Available online 26 April 2021

2590-0986/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).







<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center, Dokuz Eylul University Health Campus, Mithatpasa Ave. 58/5, 35340, Balcova, Izmir, Turkey. *E-mail address:* sibel.kalyoncu@ibg.edu.tr (S. Kalyoncu).

# 1. Introduction

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are calcium- and zincdependent endopeptidases that are responsible for the degradation of several extracellular matrix (ECM) components. These proteases can also cleave many non-ECM molecules such as growth factors, integrins, and receptors [1]. There are 25 identified MMPs that are classified into two main groups based on their cellular location: "secreted" and "membrane-bound". MMPs are also subdivided into 6 groups according to their structure and substrate specificity: (i) collagenases (MMP-1, -8, -13), (ii) gelatinases (MMP-2, -9), (iii) membrane-type MMPs (MMP-14, -15, -16, -17, -24, -25), (iv) stromelysins (MMP-3, -10, -11), (v) matrilizines (MMP-7, -26), and (vi) others (MMP-12, -19, -21, -22, -23, -26, and -28) [2]. As demonstrated in Fig. 1, while all MMPs have a prodomain, a catalytic domain with a conserved zinc-binding active site, and three histidine residues. They also contain unique domains that are responsible for different functions.

MMPs have different roles in several physiological processes such as embryogenesis, cell differentiation, wound healing, angiogenesis, apoptosis, and also in pathological processes including rheumatoid arthritis, fibrosis, tumor growth, and metastasis [3]. The activities of MMPs under physiological conditions are tightly regulated by gene expression, activation of zymogens (cysteine switch mechanism), and inactivation of enzymes with inhibitors such as endogenous tissue inhibitors (TIMPs). TIMPs, the specific inhibitors of MMPs, are noncovalently bound to the MMP active site to prevent activation. TIMPs are located in tissues, whereas there are also nonspecific inhibitors of MMPs in plasma such as  $\alpha$ 2-macroglobulin and  $\alpha$ 1-antiprotease [4]. There are four different TIMPs (TIMP-1, -2, -3, -4) and their expression is regulated by cytokines, growth factors, and cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-1 and -6 (IL-1 and IL-6) during development and tissue remodelling [5]. Some MMPs including MMP-1, -2, -3, -7, -9 can activate TNF- $\alpha$ , initiating TNF- $\alpha$ -induced MMP activation, which is linked with some autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, and multiple sclerosis [6–8]. The balance between the tissue activities of MMPs and TIMPs has critical importance in ECM homeostasis, as loss of control on MMP activity may cause diseases such as atherosclerosis, fibrosis, and cancer [9]. There is growing evidence that MMPs play a key role in cancer, especially in metastasis, and it is known that increased activities of particular MMPs lead to uncontrolled cell migration, tumor growth, metastasis, and angiogenesis [10]. Overexpression of MMPs is associated with poor prognosis [11–13]. In invasive cancer cells, the balance between TIMPs and MMPs is disturbed in favor of the latter, and the development of MMP inhibitors has been proposed as a new therapeutic approach for cancer treatment [14].

Although MMPs are mostly studied for their potential uses in cancer treatment, their importance in other disease states is usually underrepresented. MMPs are getting more attention because they are demonstrated to be involved in diverse pathological conditions throughout the body—ranging from cardiovascular diseases to ocular diseases. Although it is known that MMPs are virtually found in every tissue of the eye [15], their *in vivo* functions are still being explored for ocular physiology and pathology.

#### 2. Roles of MMPs in noncorneal eye diseases

MMPs have been found in almost every tissue of the eye at developmental stages and disease processes. MMP-1, -2, -3, -9 and TIMP-1, -2, -3 have been detected in human vitreous and interphotoreceptor matrix. In addition to this, the retinal ganglion cell layer expresses gelatinase B (MMP-9) constantly. The role of these enzymes in normal retinal matrix turnover is unknown, but the expanding list of retinal



Fig. 1. Domains of MMPs. Prodomain functions as an auto inhibitor and keeps MMPs inactive through a cysteine switch. Catalytic domain provides the required enzymatic activity through an active site containing zinc-binding motif (HEXXH). Hemopexin (HPX)-like domain is responsible for substrate positioning/binding, and it is linked to the catalytic domain through a flexible hinge region [113]. Although some MMP classes do not contain HPX-like domains, some have additional domains such as fibronectin (Fi), furin (Fu), transmembrane (TM), cytosolic (Cy), cysteine array (CA), immunoglobulin-like (IgG-like), and glycosyl-phospatidylinositol (GPI) anchoring domains (for membrane attachment) [114].

diseases with which they have been linked may provide hints about their physiological roles [15].

MMPs and their overactivities are believed to play dominant pathophysiological roles in retinal diseases. Both increased levels of MMPs and their physiological dysregulation by a change in MMP-TIMP balance can lead to ECM disruption and play a role in retinal disease onset and progression. The relationship between the expression of MMPs and retinal diseases is extensively studied. MMP-14 paralog MMP-14a is known to have a critical role in retinal neurogenesis, differentiation, and lamination in the zebrafish eve. MMP-14 was also found in retinal ganglion cells and glial Müller cells in mice, according to immunohistochemistry [16]. MMP-14 is an activator of MMP-2, which might also contribute to the pathogenesis of retinal diseases [17]. The roles of MMP-9 in retinal structure and function were documented in MMP-9 knock-out mice, which displayed subdued changes in their retina as reflected in the overall ocular neurophysiological parameters [18]. Also, MMP-2, -3, and -9 basal expression levels were observed in Müller glial endfeet, radial fibers of Müller glia, and microglia, respectively [16].

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), diabetic retinopathy, and glaucoma are the most known examples of eye diseases associated with MMPs. Although current MMP studies involve both posterior and anterior segment tissues, retina has significantly experienced rapid growth in MMP studies, especially with regard to retinal dystrophies and degenerations involving excessive MMP activities.

In the pathogenesis of AMD, MMP-1, -2, -3, -9, -14, and TIMP-2 and -3 are known to play significant roles [19]. When the retina pigment epithelium (RPE) and endothelial cells malfunction, continuous rebuilding of ECM occurs in early and advanced AMD disease, simultaneously. Pathological degradation or accumulation of ECM structural components is usually caused by the impairment or hyperactivity of specific MMP-TIMP interactions and is also influenced by genetic and environmental factors [19]. MMP-2 and MMP-9 secreted from RPE cells stimulated by angiogenic molecules promote choroidal neovascularization [20], which is the primary cause of significant vision loss in AMD patients [21]. Another study also depicted that plasma levels of MMP-2 and MMP-9 were upregulated in AMD [22].

Diabetic eyes are also affected by disturbed MMP-TIMP balance [23,24]. MMP-2, -9, -10, -14, and -19 have been implicated as factors in the development of diabetic retinopathy (DR) [19,23]. In particular, activated MMP-9 has been thought to be involved in hemorrhagic transformation in patients affected with proliferative DR [25]. TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 were found in a large proportion of proliferative DR membranes suggesting the existence of common pathways of ECM degradation in pathological processes leading to retinal neovascularization and fibrosis [26].

TIMPs and interleukins (ILs) have been extensively studied as Primary Open Angle Glaucoma (POAG) risk factors. The trabecular meshwork plays an important physiological role in regulating intraocular pressure (IOP) which is predominantly mediated by cytoskeletal contractile mechanisms and signal transduction pathways. Altered ECM is known to contribute to impaired aqueous humor outflow in POAG. An imbalance between ECM-degrading MMPs and TIMPs within trabecular meshwork contributes to the pathogenesis of POAG [19], which has been demonstrated as a shift toward raised TIMP levels in the aqueous humor of glaucomatous eyes. This shift may result in the inhibition of MMP activities, leading to an altered ECM composition in the trabecular meshwork and contributes to increased outflow resistance. Other studies have shown increased expression of MMP-1, -9, and -12 in the aqueous humor in patients with POAG, in comparison to control samples [27]. An increase in local concentrations of nitric oxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) and MMPs leading to remodeling by the digestion of ECM components can further contribute to the development and progression of glaucomatous optic neuropathy phenotype [28].

### 3. Roles of MMPs and collagenases in corneal diseases

The cornea is predominantly composed of collagen fibrils which form uniform lamellar lattices. There are 28 different types of collagens; 13 of which are known to be present in the human cornea and are dominated by type I collagen with more than 50% presence [29]. MMPs, especially collagenases, play crucial roles in the maintenance of corneal integrity and transparency.

The cornea is a quiescent tissue with minimal remodeling in homeostasis. Penetrating corneal damage leads to the upregulation of many proteins including MMPs, especially collagenases, which in turn remodel collagen lattice [30]. MMP research on the cornea is mostly centered on corneal wound healing, which involves the migration of the epithelial cells to the wound, their proliferation, restratification, and differentiation; followed by stromal remodeling to maintain integrity and transparency of the cornea. Collagenases are found in small amounts in normal cornea and they are induced in the wound healing process [31]. Collagenolytic MMP-driven ECM remodeling is essential for corneal healing. Collagenolytic activity is observed in corneal wounds causing corneal ulceration [15]. MMP-1, -2, -3, and -9 have been demonstrated contributing to epithelial repair and remodeling of the stroma [32]. MMP-2 is a non-ECM substrate for MMP-1 which is held responsible for corneal melting. Additionally, corneal stromal degradation was associated with high levels of MMP-9 which is the non-ECM substrate of both MMP-1 and MMP-13 [33]. MMP-9 has been demonstrated to promote the migration of basal epithelial cells and is associated with the remodeling of the subepithelial basement membrane region [34]. Moreover, MMP-9 knockout mice are resistant to corneal barrier disruption when exposed to desiccating stress. MMP-2 and -9 inhibitors such as corticosteroids and tetracycline group antibiotics demonstrated to have the potential to prevent desiccation induced corneal epithelial barrier disruption in animal models [35-41].

It was suggested that the imbalance in collagenase levels, especially between MMPs and their TIMPs may lead to the keratolytic process [42]. The imbalance of MMP/TIMP levels can also destroy basement membrane structure, thus contributing to corneal ulcerations [43]. Corneal ulceration or 'corneal melt' can be a result of many precipitation factors such as dry eve, evelid defects, physical and chemical traumas, and microbial infections. If corneal inflammation is persistent, tissue damage may lead to visual loss and even perforation with resultant blindness. The MMPs most relevant to corneal ulceration include collagenases (MMP-1, -8, and -13) that cleave collagen types I, II, and III; and gelatinases (MMP-2 and -9) that cleave collagen types IV, V, and VI [44]. MMP-9 contributes to corneal barrier disruption by the destruction of tight junctions in the superficial epithelium [45,38,39]. Similarly, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID)-induced corneal melt was found to be associated with enhanced expression of MMPs within corneal epithelial cells, stromal keratocytes, and at the level of Descemet's membrane [44]. Among the commonly used NSAIDs, diclofenac and ketorolac were found to induce expressions of MMP-1, -2, and -8 [46]; whereas prostaglandin analogs were associated with increased MMP-1, -2, and -9 in the tear film [47]. At present, topical and systemic administration of anti-inflammatory agents, and surgical approaches are treatment options for corneal ulceration. Corticosteroids and tetracycline group of antibiotics are known to suppress MMP-9 expression and are frequently used in the clinic for this purpose [38]. New therapeutic approaches involving collagenases could be promising for many corneal diseases including intractable melts. These include MMP-deactivating contact lens designs for corneal melting [48], and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) inhibitors such as infliximab or etanercept [49,50] since inflammatory mediator TNF- $\alpha$  demonstrated to stimulate MMP-9 activity in a dosedependent manner [37].

Moreover, gelatinase type MMPs, MMP-2 (gelatinase A) and MMP-9 (gelatinase B) are present in tear and corneal tissue during wound healing, in ocular surface diseases such as dry eye, and stromal disorders such as keratoconus. A strong relationship between tear MMP-9 levels and dry eye syndrome has been exhibited [51,52]. Hyperosmolar stress is known to have a direct proinflammatory effect on the ocular surface epithelium and it stimulates the secretion of MMP-3 and -9 and induces apoptosis [45,53,54]. MMP-9 increases in response to hyperosmolar conditions—leading to the disruption of corneal barriers and an increase in the rate of dry eye intensity [55]. Keratoconus, a progressive noninflammatory biomechanical weakening of the cornea is also reported to be associated with increased levels of MMP-1 and -9 [56].

Macular corneal dystrophy (MCD) has been associated with downregulated production of collagenases within the stroma [57], where abnormal matrix deposits accumulate with loss of corneal transparency *in vivo*. Although many corneal disorders are associated with dysregulation and overexpression of MMPs, the MCD is unique in that the activity of MMP-1 and -13 was found to be downregulated leading to abnormal matrix deposits and loss of corneal transparency *in vivo*. It is suggested that downregulation in the WNT pathway induces downregulations of two protein groups: MMP-1/13 and integrin/cadherin leading to the accumulation of abnormal collagens and disruption of epithelial layers, respectively. Although MMP/TIMP imbalance was documented in many ocular diseases, there is currently no documented evidence for the role of TIMP balances in MCD [57].

These findings depict that MMPs interact with each other in the pathological processes of the cornea. Collagen metabolism is one of the important factors that maintain corneal structure and function. Thus, functions of corneal collagenases should be deciphered to develop new treatment strategies for corneal diseases.

#### 4. Structure and biochemistry of collagenases

Collagens are the most abundant proteins of the human body and the core components of ECM. Collagen molecules are formed in a triple helix structure with the combination of three alpha chains. Triplehelical structure gives collagens an exceptional mechanical ability, strong resistance to proteolytic enzymes, and a distinct topology of protein–protein interactions. The proteolysis of collagen is involved in several physiological and pathological processes such as tissue remodeling, wound healing, and regeneration [58]. Collagenases are important proteolytic tools in tissue regeneration and organ develop-

#### Table 1

۸ m	orrowniour	of col	laganaga
An	overview	OI COI	lagenases

Collagenases	Substrates	Expressed by	References
MMP-1	Type I, II, III, VII, VIII, X collagen, gelatin, casein, laminin, entactin, fibronectin, vitronectin, tenascin, pro MMP-1, -2, -9	Fibroblasts, endothelial cells, keratinocyctes, macrophages, osteoblasts, tumor cells	[110]
MMP-8	Type I, II, III, V, VII, VIII, X collagen, gelatin, fibronectin, aggrecan, ovostatin	Chondrocytes, mononuclear fibroblast- like cells, bronchial epithelial cells and monocytes, keratinocytes, and melanoma cells	[111]
MMP-13	Type I, II, III, IV, VII, IX, X collagen, gelatin, casein, tenascin, fibronectin, aggrecan, plasminogen, osteonectin, serin proteinases inhibitors	Chondrocytes and synovial cells, tumor cells	[112]

ment during ECM remodeling. There are three types of collagenases: (i) MMP-1 (collagenase 1/interstitial collagenase), (ii) MMP-8 (collagenase 2), and (iii) MMP-13 (collagenase 3). They play an important role in cleaving fibrillar collagen types I, II, and III into typical 3/4 and 1/4 fragments which are denatured into gelatin, but they also exhibit activity against other ECM molecules and soluble proteins [59] (Table 1).

The hydrolysis of triple-helical, interstitial (types I–III) collagen can be catalyzed by several members of the MMP family, mainly collagenases [60]. The triple-helical collagen structure exhibits locally versatile regions, with modulation of interchain salt bridges and water bridges leading to the accessibility of individual chains to collagenases. The collagenolytic MMPs are composed minimally of a zincdependent catalytic domain and a four-bladed  $\beta$ -propeller HPX-like domain linked by a linker (hinge) region (Fig. 2), and the cooperation between the catalytic site and HPX domain regulates collagenolytic activity [58]. The HPX-like domain of collagenases initially binds to the triple helix and facilitates the excursion and presentation of individual collagen chains to the active site of the CAT domain [58,61,62].

# 5. Macular corneal dystrophy: mechanism of deposit formation and roles of collagenases

MCD is a rare disease in which opacities form in the cornea resulting in progressive bilateral loss of vision [63]. MCD is stromal dystrophy that presents symptoms in the first decade of life with significant or total bilateral vision loss by the age of 30–40 [64]. MCD prevalence is registered as 1-9/100.000 in Orphanet (ORPHA:98969), with higher prevalence in populations with high consanguinities such as Iceland, South India, and Saudi Arabia, caused by autosomal recessive transmission [65-67]. MCD is the least common but also one of the most severe forms of all corneal stromal dystrophies. At present, no medical treatment for MCD is available and patients with significant vision loss are treated with corneal transplantation. Cornea donor availability is an issue in developing countries, and half of the world's population does not have access to corneal transplants [68]. Moreover, invasion of a healthy cornea by the recipient's keratocytes causes reformation of deposits as early as 5 years after transplantation [66,69,70].

MCD is linked to the mutations in the carbohydrate sulfotransferase 6 (CHST6) gene leading to the accumulation of low or unsulfated keratan sulfate proteoglycans (KSPG) in the corneal stroma [71,72]. Corneal stroma consists of highly organized collagen-rich ECM and keratocytes. Parallel collagen fibrils are uniformly sized and regularly spaced forming a transparent structural organization, and



**Fig. 2.** Crystal structure of MMP-1. Prodomain (cyan), catalytic domain (pink), HPX-like domain (blue), linker hinge region (red) are given in MMP-1 structure (PDB ID: 1SU3). Catalytic zincs are in green and structural calcium ions are in blue.



**Fig. 3.** Molecular mechanism of macular corneal dystrophy. (A) Structure of corneal keratan sulfate chains. Keratan sulfate proteoglycans (KSPGs) of the eye are primarily KS type I, in which keratan sulfate chain is N-linked to an asparagine residue of proteoglycan (PG) core. Keratan sulfate chain is characterized by Gal-GlcNAc disaccharide repeats that can be monosulfated or disulfated. GlcNAc 6-O sulfotransferase (CHST6) sulfates D-GlcNAc at the nonreducing terminal during elongation. Gal 6-O sulfotransferase (i.e., CHST1) sulfates D-Gal at internal positions. Arrows indicate sulfation positions of respective enzymes. (B) Schematic representation of collagen fibril-KSPG interaction. The size of collagen fibrils and the distance between them are uniform in a healthy cornea. KSPGs interact with collagen fibrils and they are found in between collagen fibrils. For simplicity, only KSPG, but not CS/DS proteoglycan, is depicted and the structure of lumican [115] is used as a template. Owing to the mutations in CHST6 gene, keratan sulfates are either less sulfated or unsulfated in MCD patients. Loss of sulfation on KSPGs leads to accumulation as insoluble aggregates which causes clouding of the cornea. The size of collagen fibrils may also be altered in MCD cornea. D-Gal: D-galactose, GlcNAc: N-acetyl glucosamine, Asn: asparagine, D-GlcNac: N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, SO<sub>4</sub>: sulfate, L-Fuc: L-Fucose, D-Man: D-Mannose, NacNeu: N-acetyl-neuraminate.

proteoglycans (PG) are in close contact with collagen fibrils playing critical roles in this organization. PGs have a protein core and linked glycosaminoglycan (GAG) side chains, which are long polysaccharides that comprise repeating disaccharide units. Keratan sulfates are a class

of GAGs that are characterized by galactose-N-acetylated glucosamine (Gal-GlcNAc) disaccharide repeats. Keratan sulfate proteoglycans (KSPGs) together with chondroitin/dermatan sulfate proteoglycans are important for the maintenance of transparency and collagen fibril

organization. Long PG side chains connect two or more fibrils, whereas shorter PG side chains fill the space between adjacent fibrils [73,74]. The spacing between neighboring collagen fibrils is a result of the balance between attractive forces and repulsive forces caused by the binding of PGs to fibrils and osmotic pressure generated upon hydration of sulfated PGs, respectively [73]. KSPG sulfation is defective in MCD patients, leading to the aggregation of KSPGs and disruption of the collagen organization. KSPGs of the eve are keratocan, lumican, and mimecan all bearing highly sulfated keratan sulfate side chains. KSPGs are sulfated at both galactose and GlcNAc sugars by different enzymes; however, corneal CHST6 enzyme (also named as N-acetylglucosamine-6-O-sulfotransferase) encoded by the CHST6 gene seems to play a major role [75–77]. CHST6 enzyme adds a sulfate group to the C6 of GlcNac during the elongation of the KS chain; however, sulfation of galactose is also decreased or eliminated when the CHST6 gene is mutated leading to abnormal KS chain length [78]. Interestingly, chain lengths of CS/DS PGs decrease whereas their concentrations increase in MCD. Unsulfated KSPGs accumulate as insoluble aggregates and they get bigger over time, indicating the lack of mechanisms that can metabolize unsulfated KSPGs (Fig. 3).

There are three immunophenotypes (I, IA, and II) of MCD with regard to the availability of sulfated keratan sulfate (KS) epitopes in serum and cornea. Sulfated corneal KS-specific mAb 5-D-4 which recognizes disulfated KS disaccharides is used for the diagnosis of MCD immunophenotypes in clinical research. Immunostaining with this antibody exhibits three possible immunophenotypes of MCD. Immunophenotype I is diagnosed with undetectable KS antigen in both serum and cornea. Immunophenotype IA is diagnosed with undetectable or very low serum levels of KS and no KS antigen in stromal ECM, whereas some KS are detected in keratocytes. In immunophenotype II, the serum level of KS antigen is below normal or normal, and KS antigen in the stroma can be observed [79,80].

The relationship between KS and MMPs has been exhibited in different diseases and tissues. One of the major corneal KSPGs, lumican, was first identified in the cornea, but it is also present in many other tissues. In melanoma cells, it was demonstrated that lumican inhibits MMP-14 activity. When lumican binds to MMP-14, proteolytic activity is inhibited. It indicates that MMP-14 inhibition may lead to the protection of collagen fibrils from enzymatic degradation [81]. Lumican can inhibit proangiogenic activity of endothelial cells by reducing MMP-14 activity [82]. It was also demonstrated that lumican can protect collagen matrix degradation by masking collagenase MMP-1 and MMP-13 cleavage sites [83].

An increase in collagen fibril diameter, a decrease in interfibrillar space, and irregular spacing of fibrils were observed in the cornea of MCD patients [84,85]. The decrease of interfibrillar spacing is likely caused by the decrease in the water holding capacity of unsulfated KSPGs (which decreases the repulsive forces), and decreased KS chain length [78,86]. *In vitro* studies depicted that fibril size is inhibited by lumican core protein, not by the keratan sulfate chain, which is supported by findings in mouse and zebrafish models [87–89]. Interestingly, ECM core proteins such as lumican and fibromodulin bind to the collagen fibrils, adjacent to the hydrolysis regions of collagenase enzymes, and this structural hindrance sterically inhibits collagenase activity. Recombinant MMP-13 was demonstrated to first separate relevant core proteins and then break down collagen [90]. This suggests that collagenases can play important roles in proteoglycan metabolism which is defective in MCD patients.

# 6. Promising and challenging treatment strategies for macular corneal dystrophy

There is no permanent cure available for MCD in the clinic, yet. Corneal transplantation has been the most common surgical strategy to treat MCD, but disease recurrence and transplantation-related complications are commonly reported. Therefore, less invasive, new treatment strategies are urgently needed.

The traditional treatment for stromal dystrophies including MCD, is full-thickness transplantation of an allogeneic graft, i.e., penetrating keratoplasty (PK), for visual rehabilitation [91]. However, in addition to graft-related complications such as astigmatism, suture problems, endothelial cell loss, or immunologic rejection, the risk of dystrophy recurrence at the corneal graft is a significant challenge for long-term visual rehabilitation in MCD [92,93,70]. In a longitudinal study, repeated PK was required for 15% of eyes that had undergone PK for MCD, owing to disease recurrence [94]. At present, cornea donor availability is an issue in developing countries, and half of the world's population does not have access to corneal transplants [68].

Gene therapy for ocular diseases has been a focus of research, yielding to several clinical trials for retinal diseases. Introduction of exogenous therapeutic DNA (i.e., WT gene), or editing the mutated gene in the patient genome (often through CRISPR/Cas9 mediated genome editing) are different gene therapy approaches [95]. Cornea tissue is easily accessible and small tissue makes it a strong candidate for gene therapy; moreover, avascularity of the tissue eliminates the risk of offtarget effects in other tissues. Corneal dystrophies with known genetic causes can potentially be treated by gene therapy, although no such approach has been validated in humans yet. There are examples of gene editing strategies in genetic corneal diseases. It is depicted that gene editing by CRISPR/Cas9 has effectively prevented endothelial cell loss in a mouse model of Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD), which is caused by missense mutations in Collagen 8A2 (COL8A2) gene [96]. We recommend recent comprehensive reviews for more information on the methodology and possible applications of gene therapy in ocular diseases and MCD [97,98]. Moreover, the use of viral vectors, such as adeno, adeno-associated, retro, lenti, and herpes simplex, and nonviral approaches, have been studied over the last two decades to incorporate DNA into in vitro, in vivo, and ex vivo corneal cells [99]. In the light of these previous studies, viral gene therapy may become a strategy for the treatment of corneal dystrophies in the future. However, it remains challenging to develop such strategies both because of the lack of animal disease models and also the highly variant nature of mutations detected in MCD patients [91].

Another promising treatment strategy is enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), which is a therapeutic approach where a specific enzyme that is either absent or inactive in affected patients is replaced by the functional enzyme. These enzymes are commonly developed by recombinant DNA technology. ERT is currently the most suitable therapy available for several lysosomal storage conditions [100]. The first effective treatment with ERT was applied in Gaucher disease and other lysosomal storage disorders, including certain forms of mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS)[101]. Mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS) are a group of inherited metabolic disorders in which GAGs, similar to MCD, are not properly degraded and built up in tissue [102]. Visual impairments such as corneal opacification and retinopathy are common in MPS and they lead to severe visual disability [103]. ERT is a major treatment strategy for MPS patients. Clinically approved recombinant laronidase replaces deficiency in the enzyme by supplying a catalytically active enzyme through intravenous administration. Treatment of MPS I patients with laronidase demonstrates a reduction in lysosomal GAG concentration [104]. However, the effects of ERT on corneal opacification and retinopathy are not yet clearly defined. Animal studies indicate clearance of accumulated keratan sulfate in body tissues by long-term ERT in the treatment of systemic MPS [105]. It was previously demonstrated that alpha-galactosidase in MCD corneal tissue has substantially lower activity compared to normal cornea [106]. It was suggested that alpha-glycosidase replacement with topical therapy or the use of other methods to boost alpha-galactosidase activity is a potential treatment strategy for MCD. These studies reveal the

potential role of ERT in the future treatment of MCD [91]. ERT approach to replace CHST6 enzyme seems like a potential route to treat MCD. However, CHST6 enzyme is localized in the golgi apparatus and intracellular delivery of this enzyme is not plausible. Future studies should aim at elucidating the relationship between CHST6 gene mutation(s), CHST6 enzyme function, and the mechanism of deposit formation to investigate new treatment strategies.

Finally, MMPs have crucial activities in the pathway of diseases and can be a therapeutic target. Overexpression of several MMPs was documented in some ocular diseases [19] and suppression by MMP inhibition was suggested for therapy [107,108]. Conversely, it has been demonstrated that MMP-1 and MMP-13 enzymes in ECM are reduced in MCD disease, which are important for corneal reshaping and in the removal of abnormal accumulations [57]. Restoring the activities of these collagenases may stop or even reverse the accumulation of KSPGs. The cornea is the primary route for topical drug delivery, so any topical therapy targeting corneal diseases holds high potential. Cellular delivery of large molecules is still a big challenge, but the delivery into corneal ECM is through simple diffusion. Any molecule as large as 66 kDa might diffuse into the cornea [109]. Because most of the MMPs are localized in ECM, topical delivery of these enzymes into the cornea would be a potential therapy for diseases related to MMP downregulation.

#### Funding

This work was supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) project numbers 318S208 and 219S943.

#### Ethical approval

Not applicable.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) project numbers 318S208 and 219S943.

#### References

- Page-McCaw A, Ewald AJ, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8(3):221–33.
- [2] Sekton B, Matrix metalloproteinases an overview, Res Rep Biol, 2010; 1.
- [3] Hu J, Van den Steen PE, Sang QXA, Opdenakker G. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors as therapy for inflammatory and vascular diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2007;6(6):480–98.
- [4] Bode W et al. Insights into MMP-TIMP interactions. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1999;878:73–91.
- [5] Zucker S, Vacirca J. Role of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in colorectal cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2004;23:101–17.
- [6] Vassalli P. The pathophysiology of tumor necrosis factors. Annu Rev Immunol 1992;10(1):411–52.
- [7] Gearing AJH et al. Processing of tumour necrosis factor-α precursor by metalloproteinases. Nature 1994;370(6490):555–7.
- [8] Vandenbroucke RE et al. Matrix metalloproteinase 13 modulates intestinal epithelial barrier integrity in inflammatory diseases by activating TNF. EMBO Mol Med 2013;5(7):1000–16.
- [9] Li K, Tay FR, Yiu CKY. The past, present and future perspectives of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. Pharmacol Ther 2020;207:107465.
- [10] Dufour A, Sampson NS, Zucker S, Cao J. Role of the hemopexin domain of matrix metalloproteinases in cell migration. J Cell Physiol 2008;217(3):643–51.
- [11] Rydlova M et al. Biological activity and clinical implications of the matrix metalloproteinases. Anticancer Res 2008.

- [12] Hsu CP, Shen GH, Ko JL. Matrix metalloproteinase-13 expression is associated with bone marrow microinvolvement and prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2006;52(3):349–57.
- [13] Morgia G et al. Matrix metalloproteinases as diagnostic (MMP-13) and prognostic (MMP-2, MMP-9) markers of prostate cancer. Urol Res 2005;33(1):44–50.
- [14] Salimi Sartakhti J, Manshaei MH, Sadeghi M. MMP–TIMP interactions in cancer invasion: An evolutionary game-theoretical framework. J Theor Biol 2017;412:17–26.
- [15] Sivak JM, Fini ME. MMPs in the eye: Emerging roles for matrix metalloproteinases in ocular physiology. Prog Retin Eye Res 2002;21(1):1–14.
- [16] De Groef L, Andries L, Lemmens K, Van Hove I, Moons L. Matrix metalloproteinases in the mouse retina: A comparative study of expression patterns and MMP antibodies Retina. BMC Ophthalmol 2015.
- [17] Janssens E et al. Matrix metalloproteinase 14 in the zebrafish: an eye on retinal and retinotectal development. PLoS One 2013;8(1).
- [18] George AK, Homme RP, Majumder A, Tyagi SC, Singh M. Effect of MMP-9 gene knockout on retinal vascular form and function. Physiol Genomics 2019;51 (12):613–22.
- [19] Singh M, Tyagi SC. Metalloproteinases as mediators of inflammation and the eyes: Molecular genetic underpinnings governing ocular pathophysiology. Int J Ophthalmol 2017;10(8):1308–18.
- [20] Hoffmann S, He S, Ehren M, Ryan SJ, Wiedemann P, Hinton DR. MMP-2 and MMP-9 secretion by RPE is stimulated by angiogenic molecules found in choroidal neovascular membranes. Retina 2006;26(4):454–61.
- [21] Ambati J, Ambati BK, Yoo SH, Ianchulev S, Adamis AP. Age-related macular degeneration: Etiology, pathogenesis, and therapeutic strategies. Surv Ophthalmol 2003;48(3):257–93.
- [22] Chau KY, Sivaprasad S, Patel N, Donaldson TA, Luthert PJ, Chong NV. Plasma levels of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 (MMP-2 and MMP-9) in age-related macular degeneration. Eye 2008;22(6):855–9.
- [23] Drankowska J, Kos M, Kościuk A, Marzęda P, Boguszewska-Czubara A, Tylus M, et al. MMP targeting in the battle for vision: Recent developments and future prospects in the treatment of diabetic retinopathy. Life Sci 2019;229:149–56.
- [24] Opdenakker G, Abu El-Asrar A. Metalloproteinases mediate diabetes-induced retinal neuropathy and vasculopathy. Cell Mol Life Sci 2019;76(16):3157–66.
- [25] Descamps FJ, Martens E, Kangave D, Struyf S, Geboes K, Van Damme Jo, et al. The activated form of gelatinase B/matrix metalloproteinase-9 is associated with diabetic vitreous hemorrhage. Exp Eye Res 2006;83(2):401–7.
- [26] Salzmann J et al. Matrix metalloproteinases and their natural inhibitors in fibrovascular membranes of proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Br J Ophthalmol 2000;84(10):1091-6.
- [27] Ashworth Briggs EL, Toh T, Eri R, Hewitt AW, Cook AL. TIMP1, TIMP2, and TIMP4 are increased in aqueous humor from primary open angle glaucoma patients. Mol Vis 2015;21:1162–72.
- [28] Konieczka K, Fränkl S, Todorova M, Henrich P. Unstable oxygen supply and glaucoma. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2014;231(2):121–6.
- [29] Robert L, Legeais JM, Robert AM, Renard G. Corneal collagens. Pathol Biol 2001;49(4):353–63.
- [30] Couture C et al. The tissue-engineered human cornea as a model to study expression of matrix metalloproteinases during corneal wound healing. Biomaterials 2016;78:86–101.
- [31] Gabison EE et al. Differential expression of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (CD147) in normal and ulcerated corneas: Role in epithelio-stromal interactions and matrix metalloproteinase induction. Am J Pathol 2005;166 (1):209–19.
- [32] Mackiewicz Z, Määttä M, Stenman M, Konttinen L, Tervo T, Konttinen YT. Collagenolytic proteinases in keratoconus. Cornea 2006;25(5):603–10.
- [33] Sakimoto T, Sawa M. Metalloproteinases in corneal diseases: degradation and processing. Cornea 2012;31(11 Suppl. 1):50–6.
- [34] Mohan R, Rinehart WB, Bargagna-Mohan P, Fini ME. Gelatinase B/lacZ transgenic mice, a model for mapping gelatinase B expression during developmental and injury-related tissue remodeling. J Biol Chem 1998;273 (40):25903–14.
- [35] Smith VA, Cook SD. Doxycycline A role in ocular surface repair. Br J Ophthalmol 2004;88(5):619–25.
- [36] Yi Q, Zou WJ. The wound healing effect of doxycycline after corneal alkali burn in rats. J Ophthalmol 2019;2019:1–10.
- [37] Li DQ, Lokeshwar BL, Solomon A, Monroy D, Ji Z, Pflugfelder SC. Regulation of MMP-9 production by human corneal epithelial cells. Exp Eye Res 2001;73 (4):449–59.
- [38] De Paiva CS et al. Corticosteroid and doxycycline suppress MMP-9 and inflammatory cytokine expression, MAPK activation in the corneal epithelium in experimental dry eye. Exp Eye Res 2006;83(3):526–35.
- [39] Pflugfelder SC et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 knockout confers resistance to corneal epithelial barrier disruption in experimental dry eye. Am J Pathol 2005;166(1):61–71.
- [40] Bian F, Shin CS, Wang C, Pflugfelder SC, Acharya G, de Paiva CS. Dexamethasone drug eluting nanowafers control inflammation in alkali-burned corneas associated with dry eye. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2016;57(7):3222–30.
- [41] Kim HS, Luo L, Pflugfelder SC, Li DQ. Doxycycline inhibits TGF-β1-induced MMP-9 via Smad and MAPK pathways in human corneal epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005;46(3):840–8.
- [42] Silva BL, Cardozo JB, Marback P, Machado FC, Galvão V, Santiago MB. Peripheral ulcerative keratitis: A serious complication of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int 2010;30(9):1267–8.

- [43] Givvimani S et al. TIMP-2 mutant decreases MMP-2 activity and augments pressure overload induced LV dysfunction and heart failure. Arch Physiol Biochem 2013;119(2):65–74.
- [44] Rigas B, Huang W, Honkanen R. NSAID-induced corneal melt: Clinical importance, pathogenesis, and risk mitigation. Surv Ophthalmol 2020;65 (1):1–11.
- [45] Luo L, Li DQ, Doshi A, Farley W, Corrales RM, Pflugfelder SC. Experimental dry eye stimulates production of inflammatory cytokines and MMP-9 and activates MAPK signaling pathways on the ocular surface. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004;45(12):4293–301.
- [46] Reviglio VE, Rana TS, Li QJ, Ashraf MF, Daly MK, O'Brien TP. Effects of topical nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs on the expression of matrix metalloproteinases in the cornea. J Cataract Refract Surg 2003;29(5):989–97.
- [47] Reddy S et al. Tear biomarkers in latanoprost and bimatoprost treated eyes. PLoS One 2018;13(8):1–13.
- [48] Lopez C, Park S, Edwards S, Vong S, Hou S, Lee M, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-deactivating contact lens for corneal melting. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2019;5(3):1195–9.
- [49] Odorcic S, Keystone EC, Ma JJK. Infliximab for the treatment of refractory progressive sterile peripheral ulcerative keratitis associated with late corneal perforation: 3-year follow-up. Cornea 2009.
- [50] Robert MC et al. Infliximab after Boston keratoprosthesis in Stevens-Johnson syndrome: an update. Ocul Immunol Inflamm 2017.
- [51] Lanza NL, Valenzuela F, Perez VL, Galor A. The matrix metalloproteinase 9 pointof-care test in dry eye. Ocul Surf 2016;14(2):189–95.
- [52] Pflugfelder SC, de Paiva CS. The pathophysiology of dry eye disease: what we know and future directions for research. Ophthalmology 2017;124(11):S4–S13.
- [53] Farley W, Pflugfelder SC, Li D-Q, Chen Z, Song XJ, Hyperosmolarity stimulates production of MMP-9, IL-1ßand TNF- by human corneal epithelial cells via a c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathway, Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 43(13); 2002;0.
- [54] Li DQ, Chen Z, Song XJ, Luo L, Pflugfelder SC. Stimulation of matrix metalloproteinases by hyperosmolarity via a JNK pathway in human corneal epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004;45(12):4302–11.
- [55] Lanza NL, McClellan AL, Batawi H, Felix ER, Sarantopoulos KD, Levitt RC, et al. Dry eye profiles in patients with a positive elevated surface matrix metalloproteinase 9 point-of-care test versus negative patients. Ocul Surf 2016;14(2):216–23.
- [56] di Martino E, Ali M, Inglehearn CF. Matrix metalloproteinases in keratoconus Too much of a good thing?. Exp Eye Res 2019;182:137–43.
- [57] Murab S, Chameettachal S, Ghosh S. Establishment of an in vitro monolayer model of macular corneal dystrophy. Lab Invest 2016;96(12):1311–26.
- [58] Bertini I et al. Interdomain flexibility in full-length matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1). J Biol Chem 2009;284(19):12821–8.
- [59] Murphy G, Nagase H. Progress in matrix metalloproteinase research. Mol Aspects Med 2008;29(5):290–308.
- [60] Lauer-Fields JL, Juska D, Fields GB. Matrix metalloproteinases and collagen catabolism. Biopolym - Pept Sci Sect 2002;66(1):19–32.
- [61] Manka SW et al. Structural insights into triple-helical collagen cleavage by matrix metalloproteinase 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109(31):12461–6.
- [62] Karabencheva-Christova TG, Christov CZ, Fields GB, Collagenolytic matrix metalloproteinase structure-function relationships: insights from molecular dynamics studies, 1st ed., vol. 109. Elsevier Inc., 2017.
- [63] Rubinstein Y, et al., Macular corneal dystrophy and posterior corneal abnormalities, Cornea, 2016.
- [64] Klintworth GK. The molecular genetics of the corneal dystrophies Current status. Front Biosci 2003;8(4):d687–713.
- [65] Jonasson F, Oshima E, Thonar EJMA, Smith CF, Johannsson JH, Klintworth GK. Macular corneal dystrophy in Iceland: A clinical, genealogic, and immunohistochemical study of 28 patients. Ophthalmology 1996;103(7):1111–7.
- [66] Alzuhairy S, Alkatan HM, Al-Rajhi AA. Prevalence and histopathological characteristics of corneal stromal dystrophies in Saudi Arabia. Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol 2015.
- [67] Zhang J, Wu D, Li Y, Fan Y, Dai Y, Xu J. A comprehensive evaluation of 181 reported CHST6 variants in patients with macular corneal dystrophy. Aging (Albany NY) 2019;11(3):1019–29.
- [68] Gain P, Jullienne R, He Z, Aldossary M, Acquart S, Cognasse F, et al. Global survey of corneal transplantation and eye banking. JAMA Ophthalmol 2016;134 (2):167.
- [69] Klintworth GK, Reed J, Stainer GA, Binder PS. Recurrence of macular corneal dystrophy within grafts. Am J Ophthalmol 1983;95(1):60–72.
- [70] Marcon AS, Cohen EJ, Rapuano CJ, Laibson PR. Recurrence of corneal stromal dystrophies after penetrating keratoplasty. Cornea 2003;22(1):19–21.
- [71] Akama TO, Nishida K, Nakayama J, Watanabe H, Ozaki K, Nakamura T, et al. Macular corneal dystrophy type I and type II are caused by distinct mutations in a new sulphotransferase gene. Nat Genet 2000;26(2):237–41.
- [72] Lewis D, Davies Y, Nieduszynski IA, Lawrence F, Quantock AJ, Bonshek R, et al. Ultrastructural localization of sulfated and unsulfated keratan sulfate in normal and macular corneal dystrophy type I. Glycobiology 2000;10(3):305–12.
- [73] Lewis PN, Pinali C, Young RD, Meek KM, Quantock AJ, Knupp C. Structural interactions between collagen and proteoglycans are elucidated by threedimensional electron tomography of bovine cornea. Structure 2010;18 (2):239–45.
- [74] Souza ARC, Kozlowski EO, Cerqueira VR, Castelo-Branco MTL, Costa ML, Pavão MSG. Chondroitin sulfate and keratan sulfate are the major glycosaminoglycans present in the adult zebrafish Danio rerio (Chordata-Cyprinidae). Glycoconj J 2007;24(9):521–30.

- [75] Blochberger TC, Cornuet PK, Hassell JR. Isolation and partial characterization of lumican and decorin from adult chicken corneas. A keratan sulfate-containing isoform of decorin is developmentally regulated. J Biol Chem 1992;267 (29):20613–9.
- [76] Corpuz LM, Funderburgh JL, Funderburgh ML, Bottomley GS, Prakash S, Conrad GW. Molecular cloning and tissue distribution of keratocan. J Biol Chem 1996;271(16):9759–63.
- [77] Funderburgh JL, Corpuz LM, Roth MR, Funderburgh ML, Tasheva ES, Conrad GW. Mimecan, the 25-kDa corneal keratan sulfate proteoglycan, is a product of the gene producing osteoglycin. J Biol Chem 1997;272 (44):28089–95.
- [78] Plaas AH, West LA, Thonar EJA, Karcioglu ZA, Smith CJ, Klintworth GK, et al. Altered fine structures of corneal and skeletal keratan sulfate and chondroitin/dermatan sulfate in macular corneal dystrophy. J Biol Chem 2001;276(43):39788–96.
- [79] Liu NP, Smith CF, Bowling BL, Jonasson F, Klintworth GK. Macular corneal dystrophy types I and II are caused by distinct mutations in the CHST6 gene in Iceland. Mol Vis 2006;12:1148–52.
- [80] Cursiefen C, Hofmann-Rummelt C, Schlötzer-Schrehardt U, Fischer D-C, Haubeck H-D, Küchle M, et al. Immunohistochemical classification of primary and recurrent macular corneal dystrophy in Germany: Subclassification of immunophenotype I A using a novel keratan sulfate antibody. Exp Eye Res 2001;73(5):593–600.
- [81] Pietraszek K et al. Lumican: A new inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-14 activity. FEBS Lett 2014;588(23):4319–24.
- [82] Niewiarowska J, Brézillon S, Sacewicz-Hofman I, Bednarek R, Maquart F-X, Malinowski M, et al. Lumican inhibits angiogenesis by interfering with α2β1 receptor activity and downregulating MMP-14 expression. Thromb Res 2011;128 (5):452–7.
- [83] Pietraszek-Gremplewicz K, Karamanou K, Niang A, Dauchez M, Belloy N, Maquart F-X, et al. Small leucine-rich proteoglycans and matrix metalloproteinase-14: Key partners?. Matrix Biol 2019;75-76:271–85.
- [84] Akhtar S, Alkatan HM, Kirat O, Khan AA, Almubrad T. Collagen fibrils and proteoglycans of macular dystrophy cornea: ultrastructure and 3D transmission electron tomography. Microsc Microanal 2015;21(3):666–79.
- [85] Palka BP, Sotozono C, Tanioka H, Akama TO, Yagi N, Boote C, et al. Structural collagen alterations in macular corneal dystrophy occur mainly in the posterior stroma. Curr Eye Res 2010;35(7):580–6.
- [86] Plessy B, Bettelheim FA. Water vapor sorption of keratan sulfate. Mol Cell Biochem 1975;6(2):85–91.
- [87] Chakravarti S, Magnuson T, Lass JH, Jepsen KH, LaMantia C, Carroll H, Lumican regulates collagen fibril assembly: Skin fragility and corneal opacity in the absence of lumican, J. Cell Biol., 1998.
- [88] Rada JA, Cornuet PK, Hassell JR. Regulation of corneal collagen fibrillogenesis in vitro by corneal proteoglycan (lumican and decorin) core proteins. Exp Eye Res 1993;56(6):635–48.
- [89] Yeh LK et al. Knockdown of zebrafish lumican gene (zlum) causes scleral thinning and increased size of scleral coats. J Biol Chem 2010;285(36):28141–55.
- [90] Monfort J et al. Degradation of small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycans by matrix metalloprotease-13: Identification of a new biglycan cleavage site. Arthritis Res Ther 2006;8(1):1–9.
- [91] Aggarwal S, Peck T, Golen J, Karcioglu ZA. Macular corneal dystrophy: A review. Surv Ophthalmol 2018;63(5):609–17.
- [92] Klintworth GK, Vogel FS, Macular corneal dystrophy. An inherited acid mucopolysaccharide storage, Am J Pathol, 1964.
- \[93] Lorenzetti DW, Kaufman HE. Macular and lattice dystrophies and their recurrences after keratoplasty. Trans - Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol 1967.
- [94] Akova YA, Kirkness CM, McCartney ACM, Ficker LA, Rice NS, Steele ADM. Recurrent macular corneal dystrophy following penetrating keratoplasty. Eye 1990;4(5):698–705.
- [95] Williams KA, Irani YD. Gene therapy and gene editing for the corneal dystrophies. Asia-Pacific J Ophthalmol 2016;5(4):312–6.
- [96] Uehara H, et al., Start codon disruption with CRISPR/Cas9 prevents murine Fuchs' endothelial corneal dystrophy, bioRxiv, 2020.
- [97] Moore CBT, Christie KA, Marshall J, Nesbit MA. Personalised genome editing -The future for corneal dystrophies. Progr Retinal Eye Res 2018;65:147–65.
- [98] Cabral T, DiCarlo JE, Justus S, Sengillo JD, Xu Y, Tsang SH, CRISPR applications in ophthalmologic genome surgery, Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2017.
- [99] Mohan RR, Sharma A, Netto MV, Sinha S, Wilson SE. Gene therapy in the cornea. Prog Retin Eye Res 2005;24(5):537–59.
- [100] Concolino D, Deodato F, Parini R, Enzyme replacement therapy: Efficacy and limitations, Ital J Pediatr, 44(Suppl 2), 2018.
- [101] Barton NW, Furbish FS, Murray GJ, Garfield M, Brady RO. Therapeutic response to intravenous infusions of glucocerebrosidase in a patient with Gaucher disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1990.
- [102] Muenzer J. Overview of the mucopolysaccharidoses. Rheumatology 2011;50 (suppl 5):v4–v12.
- [103] Fenzl CR, Teramoto K, Moshirfar M. Ocular manifestations and management recommendations of lysosomal storage disorders I: Mucopolysaccharidoses. Clin Ophthalmol 2015.
- [104] Ashworth JL, Biswas S, Wraith E, Lloyd IC. Mucopolysaccharidoses and the eye. Surv Ophthalmol 2006;51(1):1–17.
- [105] Tomatsu S, Montaño AM, Oikawa H, Dung VC. Enzyme replacement therapy in newborn mucopolysaccharidosis IVA mice: Early treatment rescues bone lesions?. Mol Genet Metab 2014;111(2):S104.

- [106] Bruner WE, Dejak TR, Grossniklaus HE, Stark WJ, Young E. Corneal alphagalactosidase deficiency in macular corneal dystrophy. Ophthalmic Genet 1985;5 (3):179–83.
- [107] Tomomatsu T, Takamura Y, Kubo E, Akagi Y. Aldose reductase inhibitor counteracts the attenuated adhesion of human corneal epithelial cells induced by high glucose through modulation of MMP-10 expression. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2009;86(1):16–23.
- [108] Takamura Y, Matsumoto T, Tomomatsu T, Matsumura T, Takihara Y, Inatani M. Aldose reductase inhibitor counteracts the enhanced expression of matrix metalloproteinase-10 and improves corneal wound healing in galactose-fed rats. Mol Vis 2013.
- [109] Charalel RA, Engberg K, Noolandi J, Cochran JR, Frank C, Ta CN. Diffusion of protein through the human cornea. Ophthalmic Res 2012;48(1):50–5.
- [110] Cathcart J, Pulkoski-Gross A, Cao J. Targeting matrix metalloproteinases in cancer: Bringing new life to old ideas. Genes Dis 2015.
- [111] Jabłońska-Trypuć A, Matejczyk M, Rosochacki S. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), the main extracellular matrix (ECM) enzymes in collagen degradation, as a target for anticancer drugs. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem 2016;31 (sup1):177–83.
- [112] Laronha H, Caldeira J. Structure and function of human matrix metalloproteinases. Cells 2020;9(5):1076.
- [113] Madzharova E, Kastl P, Sabino F, auf dem Keller U. Post-translational modification-dependent activity of matrix metalloproteinases. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20(12):1–18.
- [114] Hadler-Olsen E, Fadnes B, Sylte I, Uhlin-Hansen L, Winberg JO. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase activity in health and disease. FEBS J 2011;278 (1):28–45.
- [115] Brézillon S, Pietraszek K, Maquart FX, Wegrowski Y. Lumican effects in the control of tumour progression and their links with metalloproteinases and integrins. FEBS J 2013;280(10):2369–81.